
FINANCE  
COMMITTEE AGENDA 

 
 

Called by:  John Butitta, Chairman DATE: THURSDAY, JANUARY 18, 2024 
Members:  Jean Crosby, Joe 
Hoffman, Keith McDonald, Jaime 
Salgado, John F. Sweeney, 

TIME: IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWING THE 
OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE 
COMMITTEE MEETING AT 5:30 PM 

Michael Thompson  
 
 
 
AGENDA: 

LOCATION:   ROOM 303 
COUNTY ADMINISTRATION BLDG 
404 ELM STREET 
ROCKFORD, IL 61101 

 
A. Call to Order 

B. Roll Call  

C. Approval of December 7, 2023 Minutes        

D. Public Comment – This is the time we invite the public to address the Finance Committee with 
issues and concerns.  We ask you to limit your comments to three minutes.  Personal attacks or 
inappropriate language of any sort will not be tolerated.  We will allow a maximum of five 
speakers on a first come basis with sign up at the meeting.  Speakers may not address zoning 
matters which are pending before the ZBA, the Zoning Committee or the County Board.  
Personnel matters or pending or threatened litigation may not be addressed in open session.  An 
individual may speak a maximum of three times per calendar year on the same topic.  This 
prohibition shall include the repetition of the same topic in a statement on what is purported to 
be a different topic.  After acknowledgement by the chair, please stand and state your name.   

E. Coroner’s Community Care Project Presentation-Coroner Jennifer Muraski 

F. FY23 Annual Financial Report-Draft 
 

G. Resolution Authorizing Execution of the Charter Communications Cable Television Franchise 
Agreement Amendment 

 
H. Ordinance to Abate the 2012C State Income Tax Alternate Bond Property Tax Levy for the 

year 2023 Payable 2024 
 

I. Ordinance to Abate the 2016E Public Safety Sales Tax Alternative Bond Property Tax Levy for 
the Year 2023 Payable 2024 

 
J. Ordinance to Abate the 2017C Tort Property Tax and Quarter Cent Sales Tax Alternative Bond 

Property Tax Levy for the Year 2023 Payable 2024 
 

K. Ordinance to Abate the tax hereto levied for the year 2023 payable 2024 to pay the principal of 
and interest on Taxable General Obligation Bonds (Alternative Revenue Source) Series 2018 
of Winnebago County, Illinois 

 
L. Ordinance to Abate the 2020A Alternative Revenue Bond Property Tax Levy for the Year 2023 

Payable 2024 
 



M. Ordinance to Abate the 2020B Alternative Revenue Bond Property Tax Levy for the Year 2023 
Payable 2024 

 
N. Ordinance to Abate the General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate Revenue Source), 

Series 2021A Bond Property Tax Levy for the Year 2023 Payable 2024 
 

O. Ordinance to Abate the General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate Revenue Source), 
Series 2021B Bond Property Tax Levy for the Year 2023 Payable 2024 

 
P. Ordinance to Abate the General Obligation Alternate Refunding Bonds (Public Safety Sales 

Tax Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2022 Bonds Property Tax Levy for the Year 2023 
Payable 2024 

 
Q. Ordinance to Abate Special Tax Roll for 2023 Levy Year for Properties within the Special 

Service Area for the I-39/Baxter Road County Water District Project 
 

R. Other Matters 
 

S. Adjournment 

 



Page 1 

Winnebago County Board 
Finance Committee Meeting 
County Administration Building 

404 Elm Street, Room 303 
Rockford, IL 61101 

Thursday, December 7, 2023 
Immediately following the Operations & Administrative Committee Meeting 

Present: Others Present: 
John Butitta, Chairperson 
Jaime Salgado, Vice Chairperson 
Joe Hoffman 
John F. Sweeney 
Keith McDonald 
Michael Thompson 

Absent: 
Jean Crosby 

Steve Schultz, Chief Financial Officer 
Lafakeria Vaughn, Civil Bureau Chief, State’s Attorney’s Office 
Marlana Dokken, Director, Chairman’s Office of Criminal Justice 
Initiatives 
Hope Edwards, Director, Purchasing  
Chris Dornbush, Director of Development Services 
Michael Iasparro, Attorney, Hinshaw & Culbertson 
Jess Liptzin, WTVO Eyewitness News 
Debbie Jarvis, Director of Court Services, 17th Judicial Circuit 
Julie McCray-Grotto, Superintendent, Juvenile Detention 
Taryn Marko, Deputy Director, Juvenile Division 
John Saquisili, IT Specialist, IT Dept.  
Deanna Severson, Purchasing Specialist, Purchasing 
Paul Arena, County Board Member  

AGENDA: 
A. Call to Order
B. Roll Call
C. Approval of November 16, 2023 Minutes
D. Public Comment – This is the time we invite the public to address the Finance

Committee with issues and concerns.  We ask you to limit your comments to three
minutes.  Personal attacks or inappropriate language of any sort will not be tolerated.
We will allow a maximum of five speakers on a first come basis with sign up at the
meeting.  Speakers may not address zoning matters which are pending before the
ZBA, the Zoning Committee or the County Board.  Personnel matters or pending or
threatened litigation may not be addressed in open session.  An individual may speak
a maximum of three times per calendar year on the same topic.  This prohibition
shall include the repetition of the same topic in a statement on what is purported to
be a different topic.  After acknowledgement by the Chairman, please stand and state
your name.  Thank you.

E. Juvenile Justice Needs Presentation (Debbie Jarvis)
F. Resolution to Approve Payment of Stipends to the Regional Superintendent and

Assistant Regional Superintendent of Schools (Boone and Winnebago Counties)
G. Resolution Authorizing Agreement between the County of Winnebago, Illinois, and

the YMCA of Rock River Valley for the Project Safe Neighborhoods (PSN)
Initiative

H. Resolution Accepting Award and Authorizing Service Agreement for the Violent
Crime Reduction in Illinois Communities (VCRIC) Program

I. Ordinance for Approval of Budget Amendments for River Bluff Year End
Adjustments



 

 Page 2  
  

J. Closed Session to Discuss Pending Litigation 
J. Resolution Authorizing Settlement of Pending Litigation (Vasilija Mitrovic v. Susan 

Goral, et al.) 
L. Other Matters 
M. Adjournment 
 

Call to Order 
Chairperson Butitta called the meeting to order at 5:55 PM. 
 
Roll Call 
Chairperson Butitta yes, Mr. Hoffman yes, Mr. McDonald yes, Mr. Salgado yes, Mr. 
Sweeney yes, Mr. Thompson yes. 
 
Approval of November 16, 2023 Minutes 
Chairperson Butitta called for a motion to approve the November 16, 2023 Minutes. 
Motion: Chairman Butitta.  Second: Mr. Thompson. 
Motion passed by unanimous voice vote. 

 
Public Comment 
Chairperson Butitta omitted reading the Public Comment Section of the Agenda due to no 
one present to speak. 
 
Juvenile Justice Needs Presentation (Debbie Jarvis) 
Ms. Jarvis gave a presentation on the Juvenile Detention Center, Juvenile Probation, Juvenile 
Assessment Center and Day Reporting Center’s needs and shared a handout with committee 
members. 

• Discussion followed. 
 
Resolution to Approve Payment of Stipends to the Regional Superintendent and 
Assistant Regional Superintendent of Schools (Boone and Winnebago Counties) 
Motion: Chairperson Butitta.  Second: Mr. Hoffman. 
Chairperson Butitta called for any discussion. 

• Discussion followed.   
Motion passed by unanimous voice vote. 
 
Resolution Authorizing Agreement between the County of Winnebago, Illinois, and the 
YMCA of Rock River Valley for the Project Safe Neighborhoods (PSN) Initiative 
Motion: Chairperson Butitta.  Second: Mr. Salgado. 
Chairperson Butitta called for any discussion. 

• Discussion followed.   
Motion passed by unanimous voice vote. 
 
Resolution Accepting Award and Authorizing Service Agreement for the Violent Crime 
Reduction in Illinois Communities (VCRIC) Program 
Motion: Chairperson Butitta.  Second: Mr. McDonald. 
Chairperson Butitta called for any discussion. 

• Discussion followed.   
Motion passed by unanimous voice vote. 
 



 

 Page 3  
  

Ordinance for Approval of Budget Amendments for River Bluff Year End Adjustments 
Motion: Chairperson Butitta.  Second: Mr. Salgado. 
Chairperson Butitta called for any discussion. 

• Discussion followed.   
Motion passed by unanimous voice vote. 
 
Closed Session to Discuss Pending Litigation 
Chairperson Butitta called for a motion to enter Closed Session. 
Motion: Mr. Thompson.  Second: Mr. Sweeney. 
Motion passed by unanimous voice vote. 
 
Roll Call: Chairperson Butitta yes, Mr. Hoffman yes, Mr. McDonald yes, Mr. Salgado yes, 
Mr. Sweeney yes, Mr. Thompson yes. 
 
Chairperson Butitta – No action was taken in Closed Session. 
 
Resolution Authorizing Settlement of Pending Litigation (Vasilija Mitrovic v. Susan 
Goral, et al.) 
Motion: Chairperson Butitta.  Second: Mr. Thompson. 
Chairperson Butitta called for any discussion. 

• Discussion followed.   
Motion passed by unanimous voice vote. 
 
Other Matters 
ARP Funding Status 
Steve Schultz, CFO reviewed the status of ARP funding. 

•  Discussion followed.   
 

Adjournment 
Chairperson Butitta called for a motion to adjourn. 
Motion: Mr. Thompson.  Second: Mr. Hoffman. 
Motion to adjourn passed by unanimous voice vote. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Nancy Bleile 
Administrative Assistant 



The Winnebago County Coroner’s Office

Ciceli McLin
Community Care 

Coordinator with the 
Winnebago County 

Coroner’s Office

Overdose Report for 2023

(January-October 2023)



January February March April May June July August September October November December
Male 6 22 9 5 9 6 13 3 4 8 7 5
Female 8 8 3 3 3 11 5 2 2 3 3 5

6

22

9

5

9

6

13

3

4

8

7

5

8 8

3 3 3

11

5

2 2

3 3

5

97 Total Overdose Deaths in Winnebago County for 2022 

Male Female



January February March April May June July August September October November December
Male 9 12 7 7 4 5 11 7 10 7 1 1
Femail 4 6 7 4 3 2 2 2 2 3 1 1

9

12

7 7

4

5

11

7

10

7

1 1

4

6

7

4

3

2 2 2 2

3

1 1

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

122 Total Number of Overdose Deaths in Winnebago County 2023

Male Femail



In 2022 Winnebago County Deputies took
166

Overdose Calls



In 2023 Winnebago County Deputies took
122

Overdose Calls

This report contains 2023 data from the months of January-October 2023.

Cases from November –December of 2023 with pending toxicology reports are not included.



Overdose Deaths in Winnebago County
2022 Total Overdose Deaths Taken Into 

Care By Winnebago County Deputies
166

2023 Total Overdose Deaths Taken Into 
Care By Winnebago County Deputies

122

This Photo by Unknown Author is licensed under CC BY-NC-ND

This Photo by Unknown Author is licensed under CC BY-NC-ND

https://www.flickr.com/photos/auvet/5909389077
https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/
http://news.schoolsdo.org/2017/11/2-seemingly-opposite-approaches-help-opioid-addicts/
https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/


January February March April May June July August September October November December
Caucasian 8 21 7 6 8 6 14 3 2 7 6 9
African American 3 8 4 1 2 3 3 1 2 2 3 1
Hispanic 2 1 1 1 2 1 1 1 2 0 1 0
Asian 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

0

5

10

15

20

25

Information Related to Ethnicity for Overdose Deaths in 2022

Caucasian African American Hispanic Asian Other



January February March April May June July August September October November December
Caucasian 5 10 9 9 2 6 8 6 8 6 1 1

African
American 7 7 5 2 3 1 5 4 3 1 1 1

Hispanic 1 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 1 3
Asian 1

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Information Related to Ethnicity for Overdose Deaths in 2023 

Caucasian African American Hispanic Asian



61101
12%

61102
5%

61103
8%

61104
34%

61107
4%

61108
16%

61109
10%

61111
2%

61112
0%

61114
3%

61115
6%

ZIP C ODES 2022

61101 61102 61103 61104 61107 61108 61109 61111 61112 61114 61115



61101
4% 61102

4%
61103

2%

61104
39%

61107
4%

61108
11%

61109
19%

61111
7%

61112
2%

61114
4%

61115
4%

ZIP CODES 2023

61101 61102 61103 61104 61107 61108 61109 61111 61112 61114 61115



FY 2023 FY 2023 Variance with %

FY 2021 Actual FY 2022 Actual Revised Actual Budget of Budget

(Audited) (Audited) Annual Budget (Unaudited) Over (Under) (Target 100.00%)

Revenues

Taxes

Property, net 15,701,751         18,326,521            16,491,000           15,563,455     (927,545)           94.4%

Sales tax 3,755,060           4,612,532              4,200,000              4,458,986       258,986            106.2%

Quarter‐cent sales tax 9,837,936           10,404,621            9,743,750              10,651,838     908,088            109.3%

Use tax 2,535,562           2,291,346              2,605,000              2,284,964       (320,036)           87.7%

Other  478,663               578,354  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐                 

Total taxes 32,308,972         36,213,374            33,039,750           32,959,243     (80,507)             99.8%

Intergovernmental 

State income tax allotments 7,620,637           6,748,581              5,305,901              6,651,381       1,345,480         125.4%

Replacement tax allotments 6,405,578           15,533,875            9,200,000              13,969,444     4,769,444         151.8%

Other 7,597,229           9,610,777              9,277,091              8,596,404       (680,687)           92.7%

Total intergovernmental  21,623,444         31,893,233            23,782,992           29,217,229     5,434,237         122.8%

Other 

Charges for services 11,877,437         7,244,320              7,541,742              6,740,514       (801,228)           89.4%

Fines and forfeitures 3,409,627           3,250,854              2,078,655              3,091,366       1,012,711         148.7%

Licenses and permits 863,555               714,201  662,000                  934,586           272,586            141.2%

Investment income 13,733                  215,613  75,000  2,427,790       2,352,790         3237.1%

Other 159,348               385,715  118,990                  161,431           42,441               135.7%

Total other  16,323,700         11,810,703            10,476,387           13,355,687     2,879,300         127.5%

Total revenues 70,256,116         79,917,310            67,299,129           75,532,159     8,233,030         112.2%

Expenditures, current

Personnel 40,545,628         42,902,424            47,959,455           44,830,857     (3,128,598)        93.5%

Supplies and services 15,034,320         14,412,380            15,844,606           14,118,892     (1,725,714)        89.1%

Other ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐ 

Total expenditures, current 55,579,948         57,314,804            63,804,061           58,949,749     (4,854,312)        92.4%

Debt Service

Principal 262,485               258,044  263,180                  263,179           (1)  100.0%

Interest 447,242               32,385  433,309                  433,309           ‐  100.0%

Capital outlay 113,034               932,557  275,000                  204,142           (70,858)             74.2%

Total expenditures 56,402,709         58,537,790            64,775,550           59,850,379     (4,925,171)        92.4%

Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures 13,853,407         21,379,520            2,523,579             15,681,780    

Other financing sources (uses)

Property sales 12,155                  ‐  ‐  40,309             40,309              

Issuance of debt ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐ 

Transfers in 1,181,834           1,116,099              2,589,690              2,289,432       (300,258)           88.4%

Transfers (out) (19,611)               (2,003,314)             (11,962,539)          (11,661,078)    301,461            97.5%

Net change in fund balance 15,027,785         20,492,305            (6,849,270)            6,350,443      

Fund balance, beginning of period (audited) 26,870,423         41,898,208            62,390,513    

Restatement ‐  ‐  ‐ 

Fund balance, end of period 41,898,208         62,390,513            68,740,956    

For The Month Ended September 30, 2023

County of Winnebago, Illinois
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance

Budget and Actual

General Fund



FY 2023 FY 2023 Variance with %

FY 2021 Actual FY 2022 Actual Revised Actual Budget of Budget

(Audited) (Audited) Annual Budget (Unaudited) Over (Under) (Target 100.00%)

General Government

Board of Review 87,295                90,382                91,580                    91,503           (77)                     99.9%

Building Maintenance 4,453,783          4,465,017          5,371,539              4,998,093     (373,446)           93.0%

City Election 142,786              146,755              151,156                  151,156         ‐                     100.0%

County Auditor 194,158              194,756              200,112                  200,138         26                       100.0%

County Board/Chairman 103,040              161,757              219,291                  185,681         (33,610)              84.7%

County Board/Administrator 445,298              496,490              531,893                  500,964         (30,929)              94.2%

County Board/Board 182,841              179,612              202,120                  202,120         ‐                     100.0%

County Clerk 914,054              856,034              1,184,381              1,006,669     (177,712)           85.0%

Miscellaneous County 2,691,040          4,592,216          4,888,056              3,085,413     (1,802,643)        63.1%

Finance 619,871              647,103              804,783                  804,780         (3)                        100.0%

Human Resources 266,266              261,184              333,684                  245,795         (87,889)              73.7%

Information Technology 1,000,987          1,454,564          1,512,660              1,493,551     (19,109)              98.7%

Purchasing 198,681              234,764              308,298                  300,463         (7,835)                97.5%

Planning 650,336              750,356              870,442                  822,318         (48,124)              94.5%

Recorder of Deeds 404,375              289,746              329,973                  259,525         (70,448)              78.7%

Superintendent of Education 371,413              406,114              422,743                  423,383         640                     100.2%

Supervisor of Assessment 575,734              633,589              873,091                  755,397         (117,694)           86.5%

Treasurer 414,524              425,696              497,455                  477,163         (20,292)              95.9%

Non‐departmental 1,415,258          1,418,074          1,424,928              1,445,654     20,726               101.5%

Total General Government 15,131,740        17,704,209        20,218,185            17,449,766   (2,768,419)        86.3%

Public Safety 370.2%

911 Center 1,325,255          1,385,029          1,841,445              1,502,391     (339,054)           81.6%

County Jail 8,856,182          ‐                      ‐                          ‐                  ‐                     ‐                   

Chief Probation Office 3,535,572          3,698,661          4,225,933              3,876,372     (349,561)           91.7%

Civil Defense 128,695              139,898              221,911                  148,077         (73,834)              66.7%

Dependent Children 39,061                113,376              165,000                  110,921         (54,079)              67.2%

Sheriff's Office 9,113,780          15,908,266        18,720,423            17,512,112   (1,208,311)        93.5%

Public Safety Building Costs 538,830              563,226              552,761                  569,451         16,690               103.0%

Non‐departmental 2,490,344          3,304,514          3,256,979              3,326,143     69,164               102.1%

Installment note‐principal 262,485              258,045              263,180                  263,179         (1)                        100.0%

Installment note‐interest 447,242              32,385                27,250                    27,250           ‐                     100.0%

Total Public Safety 26,737,446        25,403,400        29,274,882            27,335,896   (1,938,986)        93.4%

Judicial

State's Attorney 3,419,654          3,566,452          3,459,657              3,456,361     (3,296)                99.9%

Clerk of the Circuit Court 3,122,741          3,631,430          3,867,804              3,859,912     (7,892)                99.8%

Circuit Court 2,565,183          2,536,216          2,449,040              2,321,867     (127,173)           94.8%

Coroner 1,196,694          1,280,798          1,482,139              1,458,120     (24,019)              98.4%

Jury Commission 319,251              399,517              463,934                  428,892         (35,042)              92.4%

Public Defender 1,634,878          1,698,491          1,456,445              1,429,961     (26,484)              98.2%

Non‐departmental 2,275,122          2,317,277          2,103,466              2,109,604     6,138                 100.3%

Total Judicial 14,533,523        15,430,181        15,282,485            15,064,717   (217,768)           98.6%

Transfers out (Capital) ‐                      ‐                      708,000                  708,000        

Transfers out (Bond Defeasance) ‐                      ‐                      5,917,539              5,616,078    

Transfers out (Other) 19,611                2,003,314          5,337,000              5,337,000    

Total Expenditures 56,422,320        60,541,104        76,738,091            71,511,457   (4,925,173)        93.2%

County of Winnebago, Illinois
Schedule of Appropriations and Expenditures By Function and Department

Budget and Actual

General Fund

For The Month Ended September 30, 2023



FY 2023 FY 2023 Variance with %

FY 2021 Actual FY 2022 Actual Revised Actual Budget of Budget

(Audited) (Audited) Annual Budget (Unaudited) Over (Under) (Target 100.00%)

Revenues

Taxes 33,161,006         36,727,199            35,000,000          37,510,289       2,510,289           107.2%

Intergovernmental revenues 7,203                   40,185                   50,000                 83,562               33,562                 167.1%

Charges for services ‐                       4,910,649              4,950,085            3,660,698          (1,289,387)          74.0%

Fines and forfeitures ‐                       150,890                 148,365               165,650             17,285                

Investment income 3,015                   23,165                   10,000                 371,062             361,062               3710.6%

Other ‐                       6,599                      56,497                 89,518               33,021                 158.4%

Total revenues 33,171,224         41,858,687           40,214,947         41,880,779       1,665,832           104.1%

Expenditures

Personnel 19,901,210         19,522,934            25,650,024          22,688,833       (2,961,191)          88.5%

Supplies and services 1,589,123           4,522,169              6,123,666            5,017,886          (1,105,780)          81.9%

Debt Service 115,574               194,247                 115,574               ‐                     (115,574)             0.0%

Capital outlay ‐                       ‐                          ‐                        ‐                     ‐                       ‐                  

Total expenditures 21,605,907         24,239,350           31,889,264         27,706,719       (4,182,545)          86.9%

Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures 11,565,317         17,619,337            8,325,683            14,174,060       5,848,377          

Other financing sources (uses)

Transfers in ‐                       56,540                   14,000                 86,268               1,665,832           6.16                

Transfers (out) (5,066,478)          (5,070,778)             (12,126,011)        (11,916,613)      209,398               98.3%

Proceeds from capital lease ‐                       ‐                          ‐                        ‐                     ‐                      

Net change in fund balance 6,498,839           12,605,099            (3,786,328)          2,343,715          (1,248,159)         

Fund balance, beginning of period (audited) 451,948               6,950,787              19,555,886      

Fund balance, end of period 6,950,787           19,555,886           21,899,601      

For The Month Ended September 30, 2023

County of Winnebago, Illinois
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance

Budget and Actual

Public Safety Sales Tax Fund



FY 2023 FY 2023 Variance with %

FY 2021 Actual FY 2022 Actual Revised Actual Budget of Budget

(Audited) (Audited) Annual Budget (Unaudited) Over (Under) (Target 100.00%)

General Government

Contingency budget ‐                      ‐                      1,911,304                ‐                  (1,911,304)        

Debt Service Transfer (Annual) 5,066,478          5,070,778          3,257,350                3,257,350     ‐                       100.0%

Debt Service Transfer (Defeasance) ‐                      ‐                      3,607,019                3,607,019     ‐                       100.0%

CIP Transfer ‐                      ‐                      5,261,642                5,052,244     (209,398)             96.0%

Total General Government 5,066,478          5,070,778          14,037,315              11,916,613   (2,120,702)         84.9%

Public Safety

County Jail 7,886,533          16,770,500        18,228,793              17,838,759   (390,034)             97.9%

Chief Probation Office 614,362              654,076              923,880                    826,906         (96,974)               89.5%

Sheriff's Office 5,329,759          ‐                      ‐                             ‐                  ‐                      

Crim Justice Initiatives Ofc 38,678                96,445                126,390                    114,278         (12,112)               90.4%

Non‐departmental 3,748,809          2,791,207          2,985,037                2,811,125     (173,912)             94.2%

Installment note‐principal 115,574              194,247              198,181                    ‐                  (198,181)             0.0%

Installment note‐interest ‐                      ‐                      ‐                             ‐                  ‐                      

Total Public Safety 17,733,715        20,506,475        22,462,281              21,591,068   (871,213)             96.1%

Judicial

State's Attorney 1,456,132          1,337,433          2,415,321                1,920,237     (495,084)             79.5%

Clerk of the Circuit Court ‐                      ‐                      346,136                    333,446         (12,690)               96.3%

Circuit Court 421,366              412,460              1,236,429                1,046,552     (189,877)             84.6%

Drug Court 228,703              249,642              277,283                    240,945         (36,338)               86.9%

Public Defender 909,322              945,717              1,663,612                1,447,523     (216,089)             347.4%

Alternative Programs 206,891              204,900              371,120                    255,207         (115,913)             68.8%

Non‐departmental 649,778              582,723              1,205,778                871,739         (334,039)             72.3%

Total Judicial 3,872,192          3,732,875          7,515,679                6,115,649     (1,400,030)         81.4%

Total Expenditures 26,672,385        29,310,128        44,015,275              39,623,330   (4,391,945)         90.0%

County of Winnebago, Illinois
Schedule of Appropriations and Expenditures By Function and Department

Budget and Actual

Public Safety Sales Tax Fund

For The Month Ended September 30, 2023



    Resolution Executive Summary 

Prepared By:  Lafakeria S. Vaughn 
Committee:  Finance Committee 
Committee Date: January 18, 2024 
Resolution Title:   Resolution Authorizing Execution of the Charter Communications 

Cable Television Franchise Agreement Amendment 
County Code:      Not Applicable 
Board Meeting Date: January 25, 2024 

Budget Information: 

Was item budgeted?    N/A     Appropriation Amount:   N/A 
If not, explain funding source:  N/A 
ORG/OBJ/Project Code:  Budget Impact:  N/A 

Background Information: Spectrum Mid-America, LLC, an indirect subsidiary of Charter 
Communications, LLC (Charter Communications) currently provides cable video programming 
services within unincorporated Winnebago County, Illinois pursuant to a cable television franchise 
granted by the County of Winnebago, Illinois (“County”) in June, 2013.  

The County executed a renewal of its cable franchise agreement with Charter Communications on 
June 28, 2023 (“Franchise”). The Franchise includes provisions that were not subject to negotiation 
and thus the Franchise requires modifications and amendment. The prior Franchise agreement 
which expired by its terms on June 30, 2023, after a mutual sixty (60) day extension, has remained 
in full force and effect until approval of this Amendment.  

Recommendation: Staff concurs  

Legal Review:  Legal review conducted by the State’s Attorney’s Office 

Follow-Up: On behalf of the County, the Winnebago County Board Chairman will execute the 
Franchise amendment.   



      County Board Meeting: January 25, 2024 
 

RESOLUTION 
OF THE 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 

2024 CR _______ 
 

SUBMITTED BY:  FINANCE COMMITTEE 
 

SPONSORED BY:  JOHN BUTITTA 
 

 
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF THE CHARTER 

COMMUNICATIONS CABLE TELEVISION FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 
AMENDMENT 

 
 WHEREAS, Spectrum Mid-America, LLC, an indirect subsidiary of Charter 
Communications, LLC (“Charter Communications”) currently provides cable video 
programming services within unincorporated Winnebago County, Illinois pursuant to a 
cable television franchise granted by the County of Winnebago, Illinois (“County”) in 
June, 2013; and 
 

WHEREAS, the County executed a renewal of its cable franchise agreement with 
Charter Communications, on June 28, 2023 (“Franchise”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Franchise includes provisions that were not subject to negotiation 
and thus the Franchise requires modifications and amendment; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the prior Franchise agreement which expired by its terms on June 30, 
2023, after a mutual sixty (60) day extension, has remained in full force and effect until 
approval of certain modifications and amendments (“Franchise Amendment”); and   
 

WHEREAS, the County and Charter Communications agree to the Franchise 
Amendment. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County 
of Winnebago, Illinois, that Joseph V. Chiarelli, the Winnebago County Board Chairman is 
hereby authorized and directed to execute the Charter Communications Cable Television 
Franchise Agreement Amendment by and between the County of Winnebago, Illinois and 
Spectrum Mid-America, LLC, an indirect subsidiary of Charter Communications, LLC, in 
substantially the same form as set forth in Exhibit A, attached hereto.  
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be in full force and 
effect immediately upon its adoption. 

 
 
 



               Respectfully Submitted, 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 

JJOHN BUTITTA, CHAIRMAN 
 

 JJOHN BUTITTA, CHAIRMAN 

JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIRMAN  JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIRMAN 

  JEAN CROSBY 
 

                      JEAN CROSBY 
 

  JOE HOFFMAN 
 

   JOE HOFFMAN 
 

 
KEITH MCDONALD  KEITH MCDONALD 

JOHN F. SWEENEY  JOHN F. SWEENEY 

  MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 

    MICHAEL THOMPSON 
   

The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this  day of  2024. 

 
 
 

 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH V. CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 

LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 

 
 
 



1 
 

CHARTER COMMUNICATIONS 
CABLE TELEVISION FRANCHISE AGREEMENT AMENDMENT 

  
 WHEREAS, cable providers are required to negotiate an agreement for use of public right-
of-way with the County of Winnebago, Illinois (“Grantor”); and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Grantor executed a renewal of its cable franchise agreement with Spectrum 
Mid-America, LLC, an indirect subsidiary of Charter Communications, LLC (“Grantee”), on June 
28, 2023 (“Franchise”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Franchise includes provisions that were not subject to negotiation and thus 
the Franchise requires modifications and amendment prior to Grantee’s acceptance; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the prior Franchise agreement which expired by its terms on June 30, 2023, 
after a mutual sixty (60) day extension, has remained in full force and effect until approval of 
certain modifications and amendments (“Franchise Amendment”); and   
 

WHEREAS, Grantor and Grantee agree to the following Franchise Amendment;  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE FOLLOWING AMENDMENTS ARE MADE: 
 

  First, in Section 1 of the Franchise, the definition of “Grantee” is replaced with the 
following:  

 
 “Grantee” shall mean Spectrum Mid-America, LLC. 

 
  In addition, the following term shall be added to Section 1 of the Franchise: 
   

“Effective Date” of the Franchise and Franchise Amendment will take effect and be 
in full force from such date of acceptance by Grantee recorded on the signature page 
of this Franchise Amendment.   

  
 Second, Sections 2.2, 4.6, 4.7, 6.1 and 7.2 of the Franchise are deleted and replaced with the 
following: 
 

Section 2.2 Term of Franchise. The term of the Franchise granted hereunder shall 
terminate on June 27, 2033, unless the Franchise is renewed or is lawfully terminated 
in accordance with the terms of this Franchise Agreement and/or applicable law.  
Upon passage and approval of this Franchise Agreement, the Parties acknowledge 
that this Franchise Agreement is intended to replace all existing franchise agreements 
– including the prior Franchise with the Grantee, regardless of whether said prior 
Franchise or franchise agreements are in effect. 

 
Section 4.6 Service to School Buildings and Governmental Facilities. Grantee 
shall comply with complimentary service provisions of 220 ILCS 5/22-501(f) and 
any other applicable federal laws. 

 



2 
 

Section 4.7  Emergency Alerts. Grantee shall comply with 47 U.S.C. 544(g) and 
all regulations issued pursuant thereto with respect to an Emergency Alert System 
(“EAS”).   

 
Section 6.1  Transfer of Cable System or Franchise or Control of Grantee. The 
Franchise granted hereunder shall not be assigned, other than by operation of law or 
to an entity controlling, controlled by, or under common control with the Grantee, 
without the prior consent of the Grantor, such consent not to be unreasonably 
withheld or delayed.  No such consent shall be required, however, for a transfer in 
trust, by mortgage, by other hypothecation, or by assignment of any rights, title, or 
interest of the Grantee in the Franchise or Cable System to secure indebtedness.  
Within thirty (30) days of receiving a request for transfer, the Grantor shall notify the 
Grantee in writing of any additional information it reasonably requires to determine 
the legal, financial and technical qualifications of the transferee.  If the Grantor has 
not taken action on the Grantee’s request for transfer within one hundred twenty (120) 
days after receiving such request, consent by the Grantor shall be deemed given. 

 
Section 7.2 Indemnification. The Grantee shall, by acceptance of the Franchise 
granted herein, defend the Grantor, its officers, elected officials, boards, 
commissions, agents, and employees for all claims for injury or damages to any 
Person or property caused by the Grantee in the construction or operation of the 
Cable System and in the event of a determination of liability shall indemnify and 
hold Grantor, its officers, elected officials, boards, commissions, agents, and 
employees harmless from any and all liabilities, claims, demands, or judgments 
growing out of any injury or damages to any Person or property arising out of the 
Grantee’s construction, repair, extension, maintenance, operation or removal of its 
wires, poles or other equipment of any kind or character used in connection with the 
operation of the Cable System, provided that the Grantor shall give the Grantee 
reasonably prompt written notice of its obligation to indemnify the Grantor at least 
ten (10) days prior to the deadline for the response or if no such deadline exists not 
later than thirty (30) days of receipt of a claim or action pursuant to this section.  In 
the event any such claim arises, the Grantor shall tender the defense thereof to the 
Grantee and the Grantee shall have the right to defend, settle or compromise any 
claims arising hereunder and the Grantor shall cooperate fully herein. If the Grantor 
determines in good faith that its interests cannot be represented by the Grantee, the 
Grantee shall be excused from any obligation to represent the Grantor.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Grantee shall not be obligated to indemnify the 
Grantor for any damages, liability or claims resulting from the willful misconduct or 
negligence of the Grantor, its officers, elected officials, boards, commissions, agents, 
and employees or for the Grantor’s use of the Cable System. Nothing herein shall be 
construed to limit the Grantee’s duty to indemnify the Grantor by reference to the 
limits of insurance coverage described in this Agreement.  

 
 Third, Sections 7.2.1 and 7.2.2 are deleted in their entirety. 
 
 Fourth, Section 8 is deleted in its entirety. 
 



3 
 

 All other sections of the Franchise are approved and accepted by the Grantor and Grantee 
and shall take effect as of the Effective Date. 
 
  
 
 
 
 
APPROVED this _____ day of __________________, 2024 
      
      County of Winnebago, Illinois 
 
      By: ________________________________ 
 
      Print Name: Joseph V. Chiarelli 
 
      Title: Chairman of the County Board 
                 of the County of Winnebago, Illinois 
   
 
ACCEPTED this _____ day of _____________________, 2024 
 

Spectrum Mid-America, LLC 
      By: Charter Communications Inc., its Manager 

 
      By: _______________________________  
   

Print Name: Paul Abbott 
 
Title: Vice President, Local Government Affairs & 
Franchising 

      Charter Communications, Inc. 
 



































Ordinance Executive Summary 
Prepared By:   Steve Schultz - Chief Financial Officer 

Committee:   Finance Committee 

Committee Date:   January 18, 2024 
Resolution Title: Ordinance to Abate the 2012C State Income Tax Alternate Bond Property Tax 

Levy for the year 2023 Payable 2024 

County Code: Not Applicable 

Board Meeting Date: January 25, 2024 

Budget Information: 

Was item budgeted?    Yes  Appropriation Amount:  Not Applicable 

If not, explain funding source:   Not Applicable 

ORG/OBJ/Project Code:  Not Applicable Budget Impact:   None 

Background Information: 

The County has issued a number of alternate bonds which have tax levies filed with the County Clerk. The 
abatement ordinances abate the tax levies filed for the alternate bonds for tax year 2023 payable 2024. 
The abatements must pass on or before tax extensions are done by the County Clerk. The dollar amount 
changes every year. 

Recommendation: Approval of the ordinance abating the 2012C State Income Tax Alternate Bond 
Property Tax Levy for the year 2023 payable 2024. 

Contract/ Agreement: Not Applicable  

Legal Review: Yes, conducted by the State’s Attorney’s Office. 



County Board:  01-25-2024 
 

 
ORDINANCE  

OF THE  
COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
Sponsored by:  John Butitta, Committee Chairman 
Submitted by:  Finance Committee 

2024 CO 
 

ORDINANCE TO ABATE THE 2012C STATE INCOME TAX ALTERNATE BOND 
PROPERTY TAX LEVY FOR THE YEAR 2023 PAYABLE 2024  

 
WHEREAS, on June 12, 2003 the County Board of the County of Winnebago passed 
Ordinance No. 2003-CO-54 which gave the County of Winnebago the authority to sell 
Alternative Bonds in an amount not to exceed $1,340,000 for the purpose of capital 
improvements to certain County owned buildings; and 
 
WHEREAS, on August 14, 2003 the County Board of the County of Winnebago passed 
Ordinance No. 2003-CO-85 which the Board ordained to issue $1,340,000; and   
 
WHEREAS, on February 23, 2006 the County Board of the County of Winnebago passed 
Ordinance No. 2006-CO-20 which gave the County of Winnebago the authority to sell Alternate 
Bonds in an amount not to exceed $3,500,000 to raise money for the purpose of defraying the 
cost of capital improvements to certain County buildings; and  
 
WHEREAS, on April 27, 2006 the County Board of the County of Winnebago passed Ordinance 
No. 2006-CO-58 (hereinafter referred to as "Alternate Bond Ordinance") which the Board 
ordained to issue $3,500,000 in Alternate Bonds authorized in 2006-CO-20; and  
 
WHEREAS, on April 26, 2012 the County Board of the County of Winnebago adopted Ordinance 
No. 2012-CO-031, which provides for the issuance and sale of $3,285,000 General Obligation 
Refunding Bonds, Series 2012C to refund all of the $710,000 Outstanding Bonds of Series 2003D 
and a portion of the $2,800,000 Outstanding Bonds of Series 2012C; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Alternate Bond Ordinance provides that the principal and interest payments on 
the aforesaid Alternate Bonds shall be made from State Income Tax Dollars (Pledged Revenues), 
which have been pledged towards the payment of the Bonds; and 
  
WHEREAS, the Alternate Bond Ordinance provides the County shall also levy an annual 2012C 
State Income Tax Alternate Bond Property Tax in an amount sufficient to make the principal 
and interest payments on the outstanding Alternate Bonds as such payments become due for 
each year in which any of the Bonds are outstanding; and  



 

WHEREAS, the County ordained to levy a 2023 payable 2024, 2012C State Income Tax Alternate 
Bond Property Tax sufficient to produce the sum of $272,950 the amount needed to make all 
principal and interest payments on the outstanding Alternate Bonds through December 30, 
2024; and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms of the Alternate Bond Ordinance, it is no longer necessary for 
the County to levy a 2012C State Income Tax Alternate Bond Property Tax for the 2023 payable 
2024 tax year. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Board for the County of Winnebago, Illinois 
that the 2012C State Income Tax Alternate Bond Property Tax Levy in the amount of $272,950 
for the tax year 2023 payable 2024 is hereby abated in its entirety.  
 
BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED that this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect immediately 
upon its adoption. 
  
BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized and 
directed to file a certified copy of this tax abatement Ordinance in the office of the Winnebago 
County Clerk.  
 
 
 
 
 
  



 

Respectfully Submitted, 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 
 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 

JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIRMAN 
 

                                                       JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIRMAN 

JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIRMAN                                           JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIRMAN 

  JEAN CROSBY 
 

                                                                                                      JEAN CROSBY 
 

JOE HOFFMAN   JOE HOFFMAN 

  KEITH MCDONALD 
 

                                                                         KEITH MCDONALD 
 

 
JOHN F. SWEENEY  JOHN F. SWEENEY 

  MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 

                                                                    MICHAEL THOMPSON 
   

 
The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this  day of  2024. 

 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 

 



Ordinance Executive Summary 
Prepared By:   Steve Schultz - Chief Financial Officer 

Committee:   Finance Committee 

Committee Date:   January 18, 2024 

Resolution Title: Ordinance to Abate the 2016E Public Safety Sales Tax Alternative Bond 
Property Tax Levy for the Year 2023 Payable 2024  

County Code: Not Applicable 

Board Meeting Date: January 25, 2024 

Budget Information: 

Was item budgeted?    Yes  Appropriation Amount:  Not Applicable 

If not, explain funding source:   Not Applicable 

ORG/OBJ/Project Code:  Not Applicable Budget Impact:   None 

Background Information: 

The County has issued a number of alternate bonds which have tax levies filed with the County Clerk. The 
abatement ordinances abate the tax levies filed for the alternate bonds for tax year 2022 payable 2023. 
The abatements must pass on or before tax extensions are done by the County Clerk. The dollar amount 
changes every year. 

Recommendation: Approval of the ordinance abating the 2016E Public Safety Sales Tax Alternate Bond 
Property Tax Levy for the Year 2023 payable 2024. 

Contract/ Agreement: Not Applicable  

Legal Review: Yes, conducted by the State’s Attorney’s Office. 



County Board:  01-25-2024 
 

ORDINANCE  
OF THE  

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 

Sponsored by:  John Butitta, Committee Chairman 
Submitted by:  Finance Committee 

2024 CO 
 

ORDINANCE TO ABATE THE 2016E PUBLIC SAFETY SALES TAX  
ALTERNATIVE BOND PROPERTY TAX LEVY FOR THE YEAR 2023 PAYABLE 2024 

 
WHEREAS, on May 22, 2003 the County Board of the County of Winnebago passed Ordinance 
No. 2003 CO-44 which gave the County of Winnebago the authority to sell Alternate Bonds in 
an amount not to exceed $115,000,000 to raise money for the purpose of paying the expenses 
of acquisition of land, and construction of a new Criminal Justice Center; and  
 
WHEREAS, on September 4, 2003 the County Board of the County of Winnebago passed 
Ordinance No. 2003-CO-l 06 (hereinafter referred to as "Alternate Bond Ordinance") which the 
Board ordained to issue $25,000,000 in Alternate Bonds; and  
 
WHEREAS, the County Board determined that it was necessary and in the best interest of the 
County to obtain net present value interest savings and to restructure the indebtedness 
represented by the Series 2003E Bonds and to refund the portion of the Bonds of the 
outstanding Series 2003E Bonds maturing in each of the years 2020 to 2022 inclusive; and  
 
WHEREAS, the County Board adopted Ordinance No. 2006-CO-143 on November 21, 2006 
authorizing the issuance, and providing for the sale of, the County's General Obligation 
Refinancing Alternate Bonds (Public Safety Sales Tax Alternate Revenue Source) Series 2006E in 
the amount of $18,765,000; and  
 
WHEREAS, the County Board approved Ordinance No. 2016-CO-l 19 on November 10, 2016 
authorizing and providing for the issuance and sale of $18,515,000 General Obligation Alternate 
Refunding Bonds, Series 2016E of the County of Winnebago, Illinois for the purpose of currently 
refunding and restructuring a portion of the outstanding General Obligation Alternate 
Refunding Bonds 2016E; and  
 
WHEREAS, Section 20 of the Alternate Bond Ordinance provides the County shall also levy an 
annual 2016E Public Safety Sales Tax Alternate Bond Property Tax in an amount sufficient to 
make the principal and interest payments on the outstanding Alternate Bonds as such 
payments become due, for each year in which any of the Bonds are outstanding; and  
 
 
 
 



 

WHEREAS, in said Section 20, the County ordained to levy a 2023 payable 2024, 2016E Public 
Safety Sales Tax Alternate Bond Property Tax sufficient to produce the sum of $656,450 the 
amount needed to make all principal and interest payments on the outstanding Alternate 
Bonds through December 30, 2024; and  
 
WHEREAS, Section 22 of the Alternate Bond Ordinance authorizes the County Board to abate 
each annual 2016E Public Safety Sales Tax Alternate Bond Tax Levy provided there are sufficient 
funds on deposit in the Pledge Revenues Subaccount of the Principal and Interest Account of 
the 2016E Public Safety Sales Tax Alternate Bond Fund to fully pay the Alternate Bond Debt 
Service otherwise payable from each such Tax Levy; and  
 
WHEREAS, there is presently at least $656,450 in the aforesaid Pledged Revenues Subaccount, 
which is sufficient to fully make all principal and interest payments on the aforementioned 
outstanding Alternate Bonds through December 30, 2024; and  
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms of the Alternate Bond Ordinance, it is no longer necessary for 
the County to levy a 2016E Public Safety Sales Tax Alternate Bond Property Tax for the 2023 
payable 2024 tax year.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Board for the County of Winnebago, Illinois 
that the 2016E Public Safety Sales Tax Alternate Bond Property Tax Levy in the amount of 
$656,450 for the 2023 payable 2024 tax year is hereby abated in its entirety.  
 
BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect immediately 
upon its adoption.  
 
BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized and 
directed to file a certified copy of this tax abatement Ordinance in the office of the Winnebago 
County Clerk. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
          
 



 

Respectfully Submitted, 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 
 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 

JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIRMAN 
 

                                                       JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIRMAN 

JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIRMAN                                           JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIRMAN 

  JEAN CROSBY 
 

                                                                                                      JEAN CROSBY 
 

JOE HOFFMAN   JOE HOFFMAN 

  KEITH MCDONALD 
 

                                                                         KEITH MCDONALD 
 

 
JOHN F. SWEENEY  JOHN F. SWEENEY 

  MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 

                                                                    MICHAEL THOMPSON 
   

 
The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this  day of  2024. 

 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 

 



Ordinance Executive Summary 
Prepared By:   Steve Schultz - Chief Financial Officer 

Committee:   Finance Committee 

Committee Date:   January 18, 2024 

Resolution Title: Ordinance to Abate the 2017C Tort Property Tax and Quarter Cent Sales Tax 
Alternative Bond Property Tax Levy for the Year 2023 Payable 2024  

County Code: Not Applicable 

Board Meeting Date: January 25, 2024 

Budget Information: 

Was item budgeted?    Yes  Appropriation Amount:  Not Applicable 

If not, explain funding source:   Not Applicable 

ORG/OBJ/Project Code:  Not Applicable Budget Impact:   None 

Background Information: 

The County has issued a number of alternate bonds which have tax levies filed with the County Clerk. The 
abatement ordinances abate the tax levies filed for the alternate bonds for tax year 2023 payable 2024. 
The abatements must pass on or before tax extensions are done by the County Clerk. The dollar amount 
changes every year. 

Recommendation: Approval of the ordinance abating the 2017C Public Safety Sales Tax Alternate Bond 
Property Tax Levy for the Year 2023 payable 2024. 

Contract/ Agreement: Not Applicable  

Legal Review: Yes, conducted by the State’s Attorney’s Office. 



County Board:  01-25-2024 
 

ORDINANCE  
OF THE  

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 

Sponsored by:  John Butitta, Committee Chairman 
Submitted by:  Finance Committee 

2024 CO 
 

ORDINANCE TO ABATE THE 2017C TORT PROPERTY TAX AND 
QUARTER CENT SALES TAX ALTERNATIVE BOND PROPERTY TAX LEVY  

FOR THE YEAR 2023 PAYABLE 2024 
 

WHEREAS, on December 22, 2009 the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois 
passed Ordinance No. 2009-CO-87 (hereinafter referred to as "Alternate Bond Ordnance") 
which gave the County the authority to sell Alternate Bonds for the purpose of paying expenses 
associated with certain tort obligations in excess of insurance coverage; and 
  
WHEREAS, on March 12, 2010 the County of Winnebago, pursuant to the Alternate Bond 
Ordinance, sold Alternate Bonds having an aggregate face value of $13,000,000; and 
  
WHEREAS, on April 27, 2017, the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois approved 
Ordinance No. 2017-CO-046 which authorizes and provides for the issuance and sale of up to 
$10,250,000 General Obligation Alternate Refunding Bonds (Tort Fund Property Tax Alternate 
Revenue Sources) Series 2017C of the County of Winnebago, Illinois for the purpose of advance 
refunding a portion of the Outstanding Aggregate Principal Amount of General Obligation 
Alternate Bonds (Tort Fund Property Tax Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2010A; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Alternate Bond Ordinance provides the principal and interest payments  
on the aforementioned Alternate Bonds shall be made from the Tort Fund Property Tax; and 
  
WHEREAS, Section 20 of the Alternate Bond Ordinance provides the County shall also levy an 
annual Property Tax in an amount sufficient to make the principal and interest payments on the 
outstanding Alternate Bonds as such payments become due, for each year in which any of the 
aforementioned Bonds are outstanding; and 
  
WHEREAS, in Section 20 of the Alternate Bond Ordinance the County ordained to levy a 2023 
payable 2024 Property Tax sufficient to produce the sum of $975,750 (the amount needed to 
make all principal and interest payments on the outstanding Alternate Bonds through 
December 30, 2024); and 
  
 
 



 

WHEREAS, Section 22 of the Alternate Bond Ordinance provides, that the County Treasurer 
shall deposit Pledged Revenues into the Pledged Revenues subaccount of the Bond Fund in an 
amount necessary to provide for the payment of interest and principal coming due on the 
Series 2017C Bonds in the following year and upon the deposit of such monies for such year, 
the County may abate the Alternate Bond Property Tax Levy for that year; and 
 
WHEREAS, there is at least $975,750 in the aforesaid Pledged Revenues Subaccount to fully 
make all principal and interest payments on the aforementioned outstanding Alternate Bond 
Fund through December 30, 2024; and 
  
WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms of the Alternate Bond Ordinance it is no longer necessary for 
the County to levy a 2017C Alternate Bond Property Tax for the 2023 payable 2024 tax year; 
and 
  
WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the people of the County of Winnebago, Illinois  
that the 2017C Alternate Bond Property Tax Levy be abated in the total amount of $975,750.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois, 
that the 2017C Alternate Bond Property Tax Levy for the 2023 payable 2024 tax year in the 
amount of $975,750 is hereby abated in its entirety.  
 
BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect immediately 
upon its adoption.  
 
BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized and 
directed to file a certified copy of this tax abatement Ordinance in the office of the Winnebago 
County Clerk. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Respectfully Submitted, 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 
 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 

JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIRMAN 
 

                                                       JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIRMAN 

JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIRMAN                                           JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIRMAN 

  JEAN CROSBY 
 

                                                                                                      JEAN CROSBY 
 

JOE HOFFMAN   JOE HOFFMAN 

  KEITH MCDONALD 
 

                                                                         KEITH MCDONALD 
 

 
JOHN F. SWEENEY  JOHN F. SWEENEY 

  MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 

                                                                    MICHAEL THOMPSON 
   

 
The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this  day of  2024. 

 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 

 



Ordinance Executive Summary 
Prepared By: Steve Schultz - Chief Financial Officer 

Committee: Finance Committee 

Committee Date: January 18, 2024 

Resolution Title: Ordinance to Abate the tax hereto levied for the year 2023 payable 2024 to 
pay the principal of and interest on Taxable General Obligation Bonds 
(Alternative Revenue Source) Series 2018 of Winnebago County, Illinois 

County Code: Not Applicable 

Board Meeting Date: January 25, 2024 

Budget Information: 

Was item budgeted? Yes Appropriation Amount: Not Applicable 

If not, explain funding source: Not Applicable 

ORG/OBJ/Project Code: Not Applicable Budget Impact: None 

Background Information: 

The County has issued a number of alternate bonds which have tax levies filed with the County Clerk. The 
abatement ordinances abate the tax levies filed for the alternate bonds for tax year 2023 payable 2024. 
The abatements must pass on or before tax extensions are done by the County Clerk. The dollar amount 
changes every year.   

Recommendation:  Approval of the ordinance abating the 2018 General Obligation Bonds Property Tax Levy 
for the Year 2023 payable 2024. 

Contract/ Agreement: Not Applicable 

Legal Review: Yes, conducted by the State’s Attorney’s Office. 



County Board:  01-25-2024 
 

ORDINANCE  
OF THE  

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 

Sponsored by:  John Butitta, Committee Chairman 
Submitted by:  Finance Committee 

2024 CO 
 

ORDINANCE TO ABATE THE TAX HERETO LEVIED FOR THE YEAR 2023 PAYABLE 
2024 TO PAY THE PRINCIPAL OF AND INTEREST ON TAXABLE GENERAL  

OBLIGATION BONDS (ALTERNATIVE REVENUE SOURCE)  
SERIES 2018 OF WINNEBAGO COUNTY, ILLINOIS  

 
WHEREAS, the County Board of Winnebago County, Illinois, by an ordinance adopted on the 
25th day of October 2018, (as amended and supplemented, the "Bond Ordinance"), did provide 
the (i) the issue of Taxable General Obligation Bonds (Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2018 
(the "Bonds"), (ii) the pledge of taxes levied upon all taxable property in the County for IMRF 
purposes (the "Pledged Revenues") to the payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds 
and (iii) the levy of a direct annual tax sufficient to pay such principal of and interest ( "Pledged 
Taxes") if the Pledged Revenues are insufficient to make such payment; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Board has levied taxes for IMRF purposes for levy year 2023 payable 2024 (the 
"IMRF Levy") and filed the same with the County Clerk of the County (the "County Clerk"); and  
 
WHEREAS, the County has received notice from the County Clerk that the tax rate for the IMRF 
Levy for levy year 2023 payable 2024 does not exceed the County's "limiting rate" for levy year 
2023 payable 2024 calculated by the County Clerk in accordance with the provisions of the 
Property Tax Extension Limitation Law, as amended; and  
 
WHEREAS, the IMRF Levy for levy year 2023 payable 2024 is not less than the amount of 
principal of and interest on the Bonds otherwise payable from Pledged Taxes levied for the year 
2023 payable 2024; and  
 
WHEREAS, it is necessary and in the best interests of the County that the Pledged Taxes levied 
for the year 2023 payable 2024 to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds be abated. 
  
NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois, 
as follows: Section J. Abatement of Tax. The Pledged Taxes levied for the year 2023 payable 
2024 in the Bond Ordinance are hereby abated in their entirety in the amount of $2,212,891. 
  
BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, upon the adoption of this Ordinance, a certified copy hereof shall 
be filed with the County Clerk, and it shall be the duty of the County Clerk to abate the Pledged 
Taxes levied for the year 2023 payable 2024 in accordance with the provisions hereof. 

   



 

Respectfully Submitted, 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 
 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 

JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIRMAN 
 

                                                       JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIRMAN 

JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIRMAN                                           JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIRMAN 

  JEAN CROSBY 
 

                                                                                                      JEAN CROSBY 
 

JOE HOFFMAN   JOE HOFFMAN 

  KEITH MCDONALD 
 

                                                                         KEITH MCDONALD 
 

 
JOHN F. SWEENEY  JOHN F. SWEENEY 

  MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 

                                                                    MICHAEL THOMPSON 
   

 
The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this  day of  2024. 

 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 

 
 



Ordinance Executive Summary 
Prepared By:   Steve Schultz - Chief Financial Officer 

Committee:   Finance Committee 

Committee Date:   January 18, 2024 

Resolution Title: Ordinance to Abate the 2020A Alternative Revenue Bond Property Tax Levy 
for the Year 2023 Payable 2024  

County Code: Not Applicable 

Board Meeting Date: January 25, 2024 

Budget Information: 

Was item budgeted?    Yes  Appropriation Amount:  Not Applicable 

If not, explain funding source:   Not Applicable 

ORG/OBJ/Project Code:  Not Applicable Budget Impact:   None 

Background Information: 

The County has issued a number of alternate bonds which have tax levies filed with the County Clerk. The 
abatement ordinances abate the tax levies filed for the alternate bonds for tax year 2023 payable 2024. 
The abatements must pass on or before tax extensions are done by the County Clerk. The dollar amount 
changes every year. 

Recommendation: Approval of the ordinance abating the 2020A Alternate Revenue Bond Property Tax 
Levy for the Year 2023 payable 2024. 

Contract/ Agreement: Not Applicable  

Legal Review: Yes, conducted by the State’s Attorney’s Office. 



County Board:  01-25-2024 

ORDINANCE  
OF THE  

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by:  John Butitta, Committee Chairman 
Submitted by:  Finance Committee 

2024 CO 

ORDINANCE TO ABATE THE 2020A ALTERNATIVE REVENUE BOND
PROPERTY TAX LEVY FOR THE YEAR 2023 PAYABLE 2024

WHEREAS, on January 23, 2020 the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois adopted 
Ordinance No. 2020-CO-007 (the Authorizing Ordinance) authorizing the issuance of General 
Obligation Bonds (Matching Tax and Motor Fuel Tax Alternate Revenue Source) Series 2020A as 
provided in the Act, in an amount not to exceed $4,000,000; and  

WHEREAS, on May 14, 2020 the County Board of the County of Winnebago adopted Ordinance 
No. 2020-CO-039 (hereinafter referred to as "Alternate Bond Ordinance") which authorized and 
provided for the issuance of not to exceed $4,000,000; and  

WHEREAS, the Alternate Bond Ordinance gave the County the authority to sell Alternate Bonds 
for the purpose of constructing, maintaining and improving County highways, roads and 
bridges; and  

WHEREAS, the Alternate Bond Ordinance provides the principal and interest payments on the 
aforementioned Alternate Bonds shall be made from Matching Tax monies and Motor Fuel 
taxes which have been pledged towards the payment of the Bonds; and  

WHEREAS, the Alternate Bond Ordinance also provides that the County shall levy and Alternate 
Bond Property Tax each year until the Bonds are fully paid, in an amount sufficient to fully make 
principal and interest payments on the Alternate Bonds as such payments come are; and,  
WHEREAS, on June 3, 2020 the County of Winnebago sold Alternate Bonds having a face value 
of $2,590,000; and  

WHEREAS, the County of Winnebago issued a Direction for Abatement of Taxes to abate from 
the taxes levied in the Bond Ordinance that amount representing the reduction to the County 
resulting from the sale of the Bonds in the amount and bearing interest at the rates as 
hereinabove referred to, the amount of such abatement and the remainder of such taxes so 
levied which is to be extended for collection; and  



 

WHEREAS, Section 13 of the Alternate Bond Ordinance provides that when funds are available 
and on deposit in the Bond Fund in an amount necessary to provide for the payment of interest 
and principal coming due on the Series 2020A Bonds in the following year and upon the deposit 
of said monies for said year, the County may abate the Alternate Bond Property Tax Levy for 
that year; and 
 
WHEREAS, there is at least $399,500 in the aforesaid Bond Fund to fully make all principal and 
interest payments on the aforementioned outstanding Alternate Bond Fund through December 
30, 2023; and  
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms of the Alternate Bond Ordinance it is no longer necessary for 
the County to levy a 2020A Alternate Bond Property Tax for the 2023 payable 2024 tax year; 
and  
 
WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the people of the County of Winnebago, Illinois that the 
2020A Alternate Bond Property Tax Levy be abated in the total amount of $401,000.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois, 
that the 2020A Alternate Bond Property Tax Levy for the 2023 payable 2024 tax year in the 
amount of $401,000 is hereby abated in its entirety.  
 
BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect immediately 
upon its adoption.  
 
BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized and 
directed to file a certified copy of this Tax Abatement Ordinance in the office of the Winnebago 
County Clerk. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 

Respectfully Submitted, 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 
 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 

JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIRMAN 
 

                                                       JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIRMAN 

JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIRMAN                                           JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIRMAN 

  JEAN CROSBY 
 

                                                                                                      JEAN CROSBY 
 

JOE HOFFMAN   JOE HOFFMAN 

  KEITH MCDONALD 
 

                                                                         KEITH MCDONALD 
 

 
JOHN F. SWEENEY  JOHN F. SWEENEY 

  MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 

                                                                    MICHAEL THOMPSON 
   

 
The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this  day of  2024. 

 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 

 



Ordinance Executive Summary 
Prepared By:   Steve Schultz - Chief Financial Officer 

Committee:   Finance Committee 

Committee Date:   January 18, 2024 

Resolution Title: Ordinance to Abate the 2020B Alternative Revenue Bond Property Tax Levy 
for the Year 2023 Payable 2024  

County Code: Not Applicable 

Board Meeting Date: January 25, 2024 

Budget Information: 

Was item budgeted?    Yes  Appropriation Amount:  Not Applicable 

If not, explain funding source:   Not Applicable 

ORG/OBJ/Project Code:  Not Applicable Budget Impact:   None 

Background Information: 

The County has issued a number of alternate bonds which have tax levies filed with the County Clerk. The 
abatement ordinances abate the tax levies filed for the alternate bonds for tax year 2023 payable 2024. 
The abatements must pass on or before tax extensions are done by the County Clerk. The dollar amount 
changes every year. 

Recommendation: Approval of the ordinance abating the 2020B Alternate Revenue Bond Property Tax 
Levy for the Year 2023 payable 2024. 

Contract/ Agreement: Not Applicable  

Legal Review: Yes, conducted by the State’s Attorney’s Office. 



County Board:  01-25-2024 

ORDINANCE  
OF THE  

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by:  John Butitta, Committee Chairman 
Submitted by:  Finance Committee 

2024 CO 

ORDINANCE TO ABATE THE 2020B ALTERNATIVE REVENUE BOND
PROPERTY TAX LEVY FOR THE YEAR 2023 PAYABLE 2024

WHEREAS, on July 22, 2010 the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois passed 
Ordinance No. 2010-CO-59 (hereinafter referred to as "Alternate Bond Ordinance") which gave 
the County the authority to sell Alternate Bonds for the purpose of buying real property and 
paying the expenses associated with certain renovation/remodeling of the building; and 

WHEREAS, on September 16, 2010 the County of Winnebago, pursuant to the Alternate  
Bond Ordinance, sold Alternate Bonds having an aggregate face value of $4,000,000; and 

WHEREAS, the Alternate Bond Ordinance provides the principal and interest payments on the 
aforementioned Alternate Bonds shall be made from lease revenues from the Health 
Department and the Quarter Cent Sales Tax; and  

WHEREAS, on May 14, 2020 the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois approved 
Ordinance 2020-CO-040 which authorizes the issuance of not to exceed $2,600,000 General 
Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2020B of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois, for the purpose of refunding certain outstanding Alternate Bonds of said 
County entitled Series 2010C Bonds; and  

WHEREAS, Section 11 of the 2020B Alternate Bond Ordinance provides the County shall also 
levy an annual Property Tax in an amount sufficient to make the principal and interest 
payments on the outstanding Alternate Bonds as such payments become due, for each year in 
which any of the aforementioned Bonds are outstanding; and  

WHEREAS, on June 3, 2020 the County of Winnebago sold Alternate Bonds having a face value 
of $2,020,000, and  

WHEREAS, the County of Winnebago issued a Certificate of Reduction of Taxes heretofore 
levied for the payment of Bonds on June 3, 2020 to abate the taxes levied in the Bond 
Ordinance that amount representing the reduction to the County resulting from the sale of the 
Bonds in the amount and bearing interest at the rates as herein above referred to, the amount 
of such abatement and the remainder of such taxes so levied which is to be extended for 



 

collection; and, of such abatement and the remainder of such taxes so levied which is to be 
extended for collection; and  
 
WHEREAS, Section 13 of the Alternate Bond Ordinance provides, that when funds are available 
and on deposit in the Bond Fund in an amount necessary to provide for the payment of interest 
and principal coming due on the Series 2020B Bonds in the following year and upon the deposit 
of said monies for said year, the County may abate the Alternate Bond Property Tax Levy for 
that year; and 
 
WHEREAS, there is at least $256,500 in the aforesaid Bond Account to fully make all principal 
and interest payments on the aforementioned outstanding Alternate Bond Fund through 
December 30, 2024; and  
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms of the Alternate Bond Ordinance it is no longer necessary for 
the County to levy a 2020B Alternate Bond Property Tax for the 2023 payable 2024 tax year; 
and  
 
WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the people of the County of Winnebago, Illinois that the 
2020B Alternate Bond Property Tax Levy be abated in the total amount of $256,500.  
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois, 
that the 2020B Alternate Bond Property Tax Levy for the 2023 payable 2024 tax year in the 
amount of $256,500 is hereby abated in its entirety.  
 
BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect immediately 
upon its adoption.  
 
BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized and 
directed to file a certified copy of this tax abatement Ordinance in the office of the  
Winnebago County Clerk.  
 

 
  



 

Respectfully Submitted, 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 
 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 

JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIRMAN 
 

                                                       JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIRMAN 

JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIRMAN                                           JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIRMAN 

  JEAN CROSBY 
 

                                                                                                      JEAN CROSBY 
 

JOE HOFFMAN   JOE HOFFMAN 

  KEITH MCDONALD 
 

                                                                         KEITH MCDONALD 
 

 
JOHN F. SWEENEY 

 

JOHN F. SWEENEY 

  MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 

                                                                    MICHAEL THOMPSON 
   

 
The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this  day of  2024. 

 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 

 



Ordinance Executive Summary 
Prepared By:   Steve Schultz - Chief Financial Officer 

Committee:   Finance Committee 

Committee Date:   January 18, 2024 

Resolution Title: Ordinance to abate the General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate   
Revenue Source), Series 2021A Bond Property Tax Levy for the Year 2023 
Payable 2024 

County Code: Not Applicable 

Board Meeting Date: January 25, 2024 

Budget Information: 

Was item budgeted?    Yes  Appropriation Amount:  Not Applicable 

If not, explain funding source:   Not Applicable 

ORG/OBJ/Project Code:  Not Applicable Budget Impact:   None 

Background Information: 

The County has issued a number of alternate bonds which have tax levies filed with the County Clerk. The 
abatement ordinances abate the tax levies filed for the alternate bonds for tax year 2023 payable 2024. 
The abatements must pass on or before tax extensions are done by the County Clerk. The dollar amount 
changes every year. 

Recommendation: Approval of the ordinance abating the 2021A General Obligation Refunding Bonds 
(Alternative Revenue Source) Tax Levy for the Year 2023 payable 2024. 

Contract/ Agreement: Not Applicable  

Legal Review: Yes, conducted by the State’s Attorney’s Office. 



County Board:  01-25-2024 

ORDINANCE  
OF THE  

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by:  John Butitta, Committee Chairman 
Submitted by:  Finance Committee 

2024 CO 

ORDINANCE TO ABATE THE GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS
(ALTERNATE REVENUE SOURCE), SERIES 2021A BOND  

PROPERTY TAX LEVY FOR THE YEAR 2023 PAYABLE 2024

WHEREAS, the County had issued General Obligation Bonds (Alternate Revenue Source), Series 
2012F (the “Prior Bonds”); and 

WHEREAS, the Prior Bonds were issued to pay the costs of constructing water system and 
associated capital improvements within the I-39/Baxter Road Service Area (the “Area”); and 

WHEREAS, the Prior Bonds were refinanced and retired on March 25, 2021; and  

WHEREAS, $3,485,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate Revenue Source), 
Series 2021A, of The County of Winnebago, Illinois, for the purpose of refunding certain 
outstanding alternate bonds of said County, the pledge of certain revenues to the payment of 
principal and interest on said bonds and the levy of a direct annual tax sufficient to pay such 
principal and interest if the pledged revenues are insufficient to make such payment; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has levied taxes for the General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate 
Revenue Source), Series 2021A and filed the same with the County Clerk of the County (the 
"County Clerk"); and  

WHEREAS, the County has received notice from the County Clerk that the tax rate for the 
General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2021A Bonds for levy 
year 2023 payable 2024 calculated by the County Clerk in accordance with the provisions of the 
Property Tax Extension Limitation Law, as amended; and  

WHEREAS, the General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2021A 
Bond Levy for levy year 2023 payable 2024 is not less than the amount of principal of and 
interest on the Bonds otherwise payable from Pledged Taxes levied for the year 2023 payable 
2024; and  

WHEREAS, it is necessary and in the best interests of the County that the Pledged Taxes levied 
for the year 2023 payable 2024 to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds be abated; and 



 

WHEREAS, there is at least $399,200 in the aforesaid Bond Fund to fully make all principal and 
interest payments on the aforementioned outstanding Alternate Bond Fund through December 
30, 2024.  
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois, 
as follows: In accordance with Section 11. Abatement of Tax. The Pledged Taxes levied for the 
year 2023 payable 2024 for the General Obligation Refunding Bonds (alternate revenue source), 
series 2021A Bond are hereby abated in their entirety in the amount of $399,200. 
  
BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, upon the adoption of this Ordinance, a certified copy hereof shall 
be filed with the County Clerk, and it shall be the duty of the County Clerk to abate the Pledged 
Taxes levied for the year 2023 payable 2024 in accordance with the provisions hereof. 
 
 

 
  



 

Respectfully Submitted, 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 
 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 

JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIRMAN 
 

                                                       JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIRMAN 

JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIRMAN                                           JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIRMAN 

  JEAN CROSBY 
 

                                                                                                      JEAN CROSBY 
 

JOE HOFFMAN   JOE HOFFMAN 

  KEITH MCDONALD 
 

                                                                         KEITH MCDONALD 
 

 
JOHN F. SWEENEY  JOHN F. SWEENEY 

  MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 

                                                                    MICHAEL THOMPSON 
   

 
The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this  day of  2024. 

 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 

 



Ordinance Executive Summary 
Prepared By:   Steve Schultz - Chief Financial Officer 

Committee:   Finance Committee 

Committee Date:   January 18, 2024 

Resolution Title: Ordinance to abate the General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate   
Revenue Source), Series 2021B Bond Property Tax Levy for the Year 2023 
Payable 2024  

County Code: Not Applicable 

Board Meeting Date: January 25, 2024 

Budget Information: 

Was item budgeted?    Yes  Appropriation Amount:  Not Applicable 

If not, explain funding source:   Not Applicable 

ORG/OBJ/Project Code:  Not Applicable Budget Impact:   None 

Background Information: 

The County has issued a number of alternate bonds which have tax levies filed with the County Clerk. The 
abatement ordinances abate the tax levies filed for the alternate bonds for tax year 2023 payable 2024. 
The abatements must pass on or before tax extensions are done by the County Clerk. The dollar amount 
changes every year. 

Recommendation: Approval of the ordinance abating the 2021B General Obligation Refunding Bonds 
(Alternative Revenue Source) Tax Levy for the Year 2023 payable 2024. 

Contract/ Agreement: Not Applicable  

Legal Review: Yes, conducted by the State’s Attorney’s Office. 



County Board:  01-25-2024 

ORDINANCE  
OF THE  

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by:  John Butitta, Committee Chairman 
Submitted by:  Finance Committee 

2024 CO 

ORDINANCE TO ABATE THE GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS
(ALTERNATE REVENUE SOURCE), SERIES 2021B BOND  

PROPERTY TAX LEVY FOR THE YEAR 2023 PAYABLE 2024

WHEREAS, the County had issued General Obligation Bonds (Alternate Revenue Source), Series 
2012G (the “Prior Bonds”); and 

WHEREAS, the Prior Bonds were issued to pay the costs of constructing improvements along 
Baxter Road and acquisition of a waterworks system from the Village of Cherry Valley (the 
“water system”); and 

WHEREAS, the Prior Bonds were refinanced and retired on March 25, 2021; and  

WHEREAS, $1,365,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate Revenue Source), 
Series 2021B, of The County of Winnebago, Illinois, for the purpose of refunding certain 
outstanding alternate bonds of said County, the pledge of certain revenues to the payment of 
principal and interest on said bonds and the levy of a direct annual tax sufficient to pay such 
principal and interest if the pledged revenues are insufficient to make such payment; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has levied taxes for the General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate 
Revenue Source), Series 2021B and filed the same with the County Clerk of the County (the 
"County Clerk"); and  

WHEREAS, the County has received notice from the County Clerk that the tax rate for the 
General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2021B Bonds for levy 
year 2023 payable 2024 calculated by the County Clerk in accordance with the provisions of the 
Property Tax Extension Limitation Law, as amended; and  

WHEREAS, the General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2021B 
Bond Levy for levy year 2023 payable 2024 is not less than the amount of principal of and 
interest on the Bonds otherwise payable from Pledged Taxes levied for the year 2023 payable 
2024; and  



 

WHEREAS, it is necessary and in the best interests of the County that the Pledged Taxes levied 
for the year 2023 payable 2024 to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds be abated; and 
  
WHEREAS, there is at least $158,050 in the aforesaid Bond Fund to fully make all principal and 
interest payments on the aforementioned outstanding Alternate Bond Fund through December 
30, 2024.  
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois, 
as follows: In accordance with Section 11. Abatement of Tax. The Pledged Taxes levied for the 
year 2023 payable 2024 for the General Obligation Refunding Bonds (alternate revenue source), 
series 2021B Bond are hereby abated in their entirety in the amount of $158,050. 
  
BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, upon the adoption of this Ordinance, a certified copy hereof shall 
be filed with the County Clerk, and it shall be the duty of the County Clerk to abate the Pledged 
Taxes levied for the year 2023 payable 2024 in accordance with the provisions hereof. 
 
 
 

 
  



 

Respectfully Submitted, 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 
 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 

JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIRMAN 
 

                                                       JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIRMAN 

JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIRMAN                                           JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIRMAN 

  JEAN CROSBY 
 

                                                                                                      JEAN CROSBY 
 

JOE HOFFMAN   JOE HOFFMAN 

  KEITH MCDONALD 
 

                                                                         KEITH MCDONALD 
 

 
JOHN F. SWEENEY 

 

JOHN F. SWEENEY 

  MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 

                                                                    MICHAEL THOMPSON 
   

 
The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this  day of  2024. 

 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 

 



Ordinance Executive Summary 

Prepared By:     Steve Schultz - Chief Financial Officer 

Committee:     Finance Committee 

Committee Date:     January 18, 2024 

Resolution Title:  Ordinance to Abate the General Obligation Alternate Refunding Bonds 
 (Public Safety Sales Tax Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2022 Bonds Property 

  Tax Levy for the Year 2023 Payable 2024 

County Code:   Not Applicable 

Board Meeting Date:   January 25, 2024 

Budget Information: 

Was item budgeted?  Yes  Appropriation Amount:  Not Applicable 

If not, explain funding source:   Not Applicable 

ORG/OBJ/Project Code:  Not Applicable Budget Impact:   None 

Background Information:  The County has issued a number of alternate bonds which have tax levies 
     filed with the County Clerk. The abatement ordinances abate the tax levies  
     filed for the alternate bonds for tax year 2023 payable 2024. The abatements  
     must pass on or before tax extensions are done by the County Clerk. The dollar 
   amount changes every year. 

Recommendation:  Approval of an ordinance to abate the General Obligation Alternate Refunding 
 Bonds (Public Safety Sales Tax Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2022 Bonds 
 Property Tax Levy for the Year 2023 Payable 2024. 

Contract/ Agreement:  Not Applicable  

Legal Review:    Yes, conducted by the State’s Attorney’s Office. 



County Board:  01-25-2024 

ORDINANCE  
OF THE  

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by:  John Butitta, Committee Chairman 
Submitted by:  Finance Committee 

2024 CO 

ORDINANCE TO ABATE THE GENERAL OBLIGATION ALTERNATE REFUNDING
BONDS (PUBLIC SAFETY SALES TAX ALTERNATE REVENUE SOURCE), SERIES 2022

BONDS PROPERTY TAX LEVY FOR THE YEAR 2023 PAYABLE 2024 

WHEREAS, the County of Winnebago, Illinois (County) had issued and had outstanding General 
Obligation Alternate Refunding Bonds (Public Safety Sales Tax Alternate Revenue Source), 
Series 2013A (the "2013A Bonds"); and, these Prior Bonds were refinanced and retired on 
August 11, 2022 reference Ordinance No. 2022-CO-057 and $12,500,000 General Obligation 
Alternate Refunding Bonds (Public Safety Sales Tax Alternate Revenue Source) Series 2022 
Bonds (the "2022 Bonds") were issued; and 

WHEREAS, the revenue source that is pledged to the payment of the principal of and interest 
on the 2022 Bonds are revenues received by the County from the special county retailers' 
occupation tax and service occupation tax for public safety purposes (the "Pledged Revenues"); 
and 

WHEREAS, the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois has levied taxes for the 
General Obligation Alternate Refunding Bonds (Public Safety Sales Tax Alternate Revenue 
Source) Series 2022 Bonds and filed the same with the County Clerk of the County (the "County 
Clerk"); and  

WHEREAS, the County has received notice from the County Clerk that the tax rate for the 
General Obligation Alternate Refunding Bonds (Public Safety Sales Tax Alternate Revenue 
Source) Series 2022 Bonds for levy year 2023 payable 2024 calculated by the County Clerk in 
accordance with the provisions of the Property Tax Extension Limitation Law, as amended; and 

WHEREAS, the General Obligation Alternate Refunding Bonds (Public Safety Sales Tax Alternate 
Revenue Source) Series 2022 Levy for levy year 2023 payable 2024 is not less than the amount 
of principal of and interest on the Bonds otherwise payable from Pledged Taxes levied for the 
year 2023 payable 2024; and  

WHEREAS, in accordance with Section 11. Abatement of Pledged Tax. Whenever the pledged 
revenues or other lawfully funds are available and on deposit in the Bond Fund in an amount 
necessary to pay any principal of or interest coming due on the Series 2022 Bonds in the 



 

following year and upon the deposit of said monies for said year, the County may abate the 
Alternate Bond Property Tax Levy for that year, with proper notification of such abatement filed 
with the County Clerk; and 
 
WHEREAS, there is at least $3,397,250 in the aforesaid Bond Account to fully make all principal 
and interest payments on the aforementioned outstanding General Obligation Alternate 
Refunding Bonds (Public Safety Sales Tax Alternate Revenue Source) Series 2022 Bonds through 
December 30, 2024; and 
 
WHEREAS, it is necessary and in the best interests of the County that the Pledged Taxes levied 
for the year 2023 payable 2024 to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds be abated. 
  
NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois, 
as follows: In accordance with Section 11. Abatement of Pledged Tax. The Pledged Taxes levied 
for the year 2023 payable 2024 for the General Obligation Alternate Refunding Bonds (Public 
Safety Sales Tax Alternate Revenue Source) Series 2022 Bonds are hereby abated in their 
entirety in the amount of $3,397,250. 
  
BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, upon the adoption of this Ordinance, a certified copy hereof shall 
be filed with the County Clerk, and it shall be the duty of the County Clerk to abate the Pledged 
Taxes levied for the year 2023 payable 2024 in accordance with the provisions hereof. 
 
 
 

 
  



 

Respectfully Submitted, 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 
 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 

JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIRMAN 
 

                                                       JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIRMAN 

JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIRMAN                                           JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIRMAN 

  JEAN CROSBY 
 

                                                                                                      JEAN CROSBY 
 

JOE HOFFMAN   JOE HOFFMAN 

  KEITH MCDONALD 
 

                                                                         KEITH MCDONALD 
 

 
JOHN F. SWEENEY 

 

JOHN F. SWEENEY 

  MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 

                                                                    MICHAEL THOMPSON 
   

 
The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this _______day of __________________________ 2024. 

 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 

 



Ordinance Executive Summary 
Prepared By:   Steve Schultz - Chief Financial Officer 

Committee:   Finance Committee 

Committee Date:   January 18, 2024 

Resolution Title: Ordinance to Abate Special Tax Roll for 2023 Levy Year for Properties within  
the Special Service Area for the I-39/Baxter Road County Water District Project 

County Code: Not Applicable 

Board Meeting Date: January 25, 2024 

Budget Information: 

Was item budgeted?    Yes  Appropriation Amount:  Not Applicable 

If not, explain funding source:   Not Applicable 

ORG/OBJ/Project Code:  Not Applicable Budget Impact:   None 

Background Information: 

The 139/Baxter Road Water District included a Special Service Area as part of the project. The County 
Board approved a Special Tax Roll assessing a special tax against each property within the SSA for the 
administration and maintenance of the SSA and for the payment of principal and interest on the County's 
General Obligation Bonds. The Special Tax Roll for the SSA for levy year 2023 totaled $399,200. There are 
sufficient funds in the Special Tax Allocation Fund from the URL tax increment to make the payments on 
the bonds for June 30, 2024 and December 30, 2024. Based on sufficient funds being on hand the County 
Board can abate the Special Tax Roll for levy year 2023 payable 2024. The dollar amount changes each 
year. 

Recommendation: Approval of the Ordinance Abating the Special Tax Roll for 2023 Levy Year Payable 
2024. 

Contract/ Agreement: Not Applicable  

Legal Review: Yes, conducted by the State’s Attorney’s Office. 



County Board:  01-25-2024 
 

 
ORDINANCE  

OF THE  
COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
Sponsored by:  John Butitta, Committee Chairman 
Submitted by:  Finance Committee 

2024 CO 
 

ORDINANCE TO ABATE SPECIAL TAX ROLL FOR 2023 LEVY  
YEAR FOR PROPERTIES WITHIN THE SPECIAL SERVICE AREA FOR  

THE 1-39/BAXTER ROAD COUNTY WATER DISTRICT PROJECT  
 

WHEREAS, on August 9, 2012, the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois, by   
Ordinance Number 2012-CO-056, approved establishing a Special Service Area ("SSA") for 
the I-39/Baxter Road County Water District Project; and 
 
WHEREAS, on October 25, 2012, the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois, by 
Ordinance Number 2012-CO-072, approved an amendment to said establishing Ordinance, 
which enacted a Special Tax Roll assessing a special tax against each property lying within 
the SSA for the administration and maintenance of the SSA and for the payment of principal 
and interest on the County's General Obligation Bonds (Alternate Revenue Source), Series 
2012F, issued pursuant to the establishing Ordinance for the purpose of financing a part of 
the cost of construction and formation of said County Water District Project; and  
 
WHEREAS, on March 25, 2021, the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois, by 
Ordinance Number 2021-CO-033, providing for (1) the issue of approximately $3,725,000 
General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2021A, for the purpose 
of refunding the County’s Series 2012F Bonds, (2) the pledge of certain revenues to the payment 
of principal and interest on the bonds and the levy of a direct annual tax sufficient to pay such 
principal and interest if the pledged revenues are insufficient to make such payment and (3) the 
sale of the bonds to the purchaser thereof; and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to an Intergovernmental Cooperation Agreement ("Agreement") 
between the County of Winnebago, Village of Cherry Valley and the Village of New Milford, 
dated June 6, 2012, the parties determined that the area in and around the Baxter Road 
interchange on 1-39 is appropriate for the formation of an Industrial Park Conservation Area 
to spur private investments and development defined in the Industrial Jobs Recovery Law 
("URL"); and  

 
 



 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Agreement, the Special Tax Allocation Fund ("STAF" as defined 
in the URL), created with the tax increment financing will be placed under the control of 
Winnebago County to be administered for the length of the project; and 
 
WHEREAS, funds deposited in the STAF generated from the URL District shall be used to pay 
for the payments on the SSA Bonds as first priority; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Special Tax Roll for the SSA for levy year 2023 totaled $399,200; and 
 
WHEREAS, there is sufficient funds from the URL increment in the STAF fund as of December 
22, 2023, to make the payments on the bonds for June 30, 2024 and December 30, 2024.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Board of the County of Winnebago, 
Illinois that the County Board hereby abate the Special Tax Roll for levy year 2023 payable 
2024 in the following amounts: 
 

 
 

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED that this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect forthwith 
immediately upon its adoption.  
 
BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED that the Clerk of the County Board shall deliver certified copies of 
this Ordinance to the Winnebago County Clerk, the Chief Financial Officer and the Winnebago 
County Director of Finance. 
  

 
 
 

  

Parcel Number Amount
16-28-300-021 10,900.91      
16-28-300-027 53,349.67      
16-28-300-028 9,457.31        
16-28-300-029 8,858.75        
16-28-400-019 27,041.01      
16-28-400-022 11,534.68      
16-28-400-023 56,687.54      
16-28-400-024 29,942.29      
16-33-100-009 81,630.06      
16-33-200-009 109,797.78    

Total 399,200.00$  



 

Respectfully Submitted, 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 
 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 

JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIRMAN 
 

                                                       JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIRMAN 

JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIRMAN                                           JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIRMAN 

  JEAN CROSBY 
 

                                                                                                      JEAN CROSBY 
 

JOE HOFFMAN  JOE HOFFMAN 

  KEITH MCDONALD 
 

                                                                         KEITH MCDONALD  
 

 
JOHN F. SWEENEY  JOHN F. SWEENEY 

  MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 

                                                                    MICHAEL THOMPSON 
   

 
The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this  day of  2024. 

 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 

 


	Agenda
	Approval of Minutes
	Coroner's Community Care Project Presentation - Coroner Jennifer Muraski
	FY23 Annual Financial Report - Draft
	Resolution Authorizing Execution of Charter Communications Cable Television Franchise Agreement Amendment
	Ordinance to Abate 2012C State Income Tax Alternate Bond Property Tax Levy for year 2023 Payable 2024
	Ordinance to Abate 2016E PSST Alternative Bond Property Tax Levy for Year 2023 Payable 2024
	Ordinance to Abate 2017C Tort Property Tax & Quarter Cent Sales Tax Alternative Bond Property Tax Levey for Year 2023 Payable 2024
	Ordinance to Abate tax hereto levied for year 2023 payable 2024 to pay principal of & interest on Taxable General Obligation Bonds (Alternative Revenue Source) Series 2018
	Ordinance to Abate 2020A Alternative Revenue Bond Property Tax Levy for Year 2023 Payable 2024
	Ordinance to Abate 2020B Alternative Revenue Bond Property Tax Levy for Year 2023 Payable 2024
	Ordinance to Abate General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2021A Bond Property Tax Levy for Year 2023 Payable 2024
	Ordinance to Abate General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Alternate Revenue Source) Series 2021B Bond Property Tax Levy for Year 2023 Payable 2024
	Ordinance to Abate General Obligation Alternate Refunding Bonds (PSST Alternate Revenue Source) Series 2022 Bonds Property Tax Levy for Year 2023 Payable 2024
	Ordinance to Abate Special Tax Roll for 2023 Levy Year for Properties within Special Service Area for 1-39/Baxter Rd. County Water District Project



